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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

RAFAEL LABOY,

Plaintiff, . Civ. No. 18-82037LW) (TJB)
V.
SCO. W.GALLAGHER et al, :' OPINION
Defendants

FREDA L. WOLFSON, U.S.D.J.:

l. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff, Rafael Laboy“Laboy or “Plaintiff”), is astate prisonempresentlyincarcerated
at NewJersey State PrisqfiNJSP”), in Trenton New Jerseywho is proceedingro sewith a
complaint asserting civil rights clainmder 42 U.S.C. § 1988d tort claims under New Jersey
state law (Compl.,ECF No.1-1.) Presently beforéhe Court is a motion by defendants,
William Gallagher (“Gallagher”) and Kimberly Collihg‘Collins”) (collectively, “Defendants”)
for dismissal of th&€omplaintunder Federal Rak of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) af@). (ECF
No. 12.) For the following reasorthie motionis GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART,
and the action is remanded to the Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Division, Meucgy.C

. BACKGROUND AND ALLEGATIONS
Laboyfiled his Complaint with the Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Division, Mercer

County, on November 29, 2017. (ECF Ndl.]l-He alleges thaton July 21, 2016, Gallagher, an

1 Collins was inaccurately listed in the Complaint’s caption as “Karen Collir@eHCF No.
1-1.)
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NJSP corrections officeffiled a fraudulent disciplinary report citing [Laboy] with a violation of
New Jersey Department of Cortieas rule *.005 Threatening Another with Bodily Harm or
with any offense against his or her person or his or her propefty.f $.) Laboy further

alleges that, on July 28, 2016, Collins, also an NJSP corrections officer, “file@ arfals
fraudulent ‘Special Custody Report’ in furtherance of the conspiracy to subjéctyjL® harm
and injury by lying on him.” Ifl. 1 6.) A hearing officer apparently found Laboy not guilty of
the disciplinary charge on July 29, 201&. § 11.)

Meanwhile,Laboyalleges that, on July 22, 2016, Collesdan “inmate runner,” packed
Laboy’s cell and, in the process, “looted” it, taking “hundreds of dollars of [Labodglepty”
for their own personal useld( 11 12-14.) He further alleges that Defendants “conspired to
steal” a food package worth nearly $250 that was delivered to the prison on July 27, 2016, and
that Defendants “convert[ed] the contents to their own personal ugdef{(6-19.) Laboy
contends that Defendants filed the false reports against Laboy for the purpasengfhim
removed from his cell so that they could take his food packadef 20.) Laboy generally
alleges that Defendants have engaged in a pattern of filing false discipéparisand he
argues that their conduct violates applicable codes of condbet id {1 2125.)

Laboy concludes by alleging that Defendants’ conduct “constituted amdalnusual
punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution” aritd that
“constituted tle tort of false imprisonment and theft under the law of the State of New Jersey.”
(Id. at pp. 4-5.)Laboy seeks declaratory judgment that his constitutional rights were violated
and $20,000 in compensatory damages, as well as unspecified punitive damages arid.yosts. (

OnApril 23, 2018, Defendants removed the action to this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

(Notice of Removal, ECF No. 1.) Following the removal, Laboy filed a motionrsgeki
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temporary restraining order preliminary injunctiorthat wauld compel Defendants to return
Laboy to his former housing unit and reinstate him to his job as a Social WorkdaAissis
(Mot. for TRO & Prelim. Injunction, ECF No. 5.) Defendants opposed this motion, and Laboy
has filed a reply brief. (ECF Nos. 13 & 22.) Defendafdsfiled a motion to dismiss the
Complaintfor lack of subjecinatter jurisdiction, under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(b)(1), andor failure to state a claim, under Rule 12(b)(6Ylo{. to DismissECF No. 12)
Laboy has filed a brigh opposition. (Mem. of Law in Opp’EECF No0.26.)
1.  LEGAL STANDARDSAND ANALYSIS
A. Motion for Temporary Restraining Order or Preliminary Injunction

To justify the extraordinary relief of a preliminary injunction, a plaintiff must
demonstrate (1) a likelihood of success on the merits, (2) that denial would ceparalbte
harm to the plaintiff, (3) that granting the injunction would not cause irmbpaharm to the
defendant, and (4) that the injunction would be in the public int&esklaldonado v. Houston,
157 F.3d 179, 184 (3d Cir. 18P The same standard applies to temporary restraining orders.
SeeBallas v. Tedescall F. Supp. 2d 531, 537 (D.N.J. 1998) plaintiff must show that all four
factors weigh in favor of an injunction or temporary restraining or8eeOpticians Ass'n of
Am. v. Indep. Opticians of An®20 F.2d 187, 192 (3d Cir. 1990puch preliminary relief is an
“extraordnary remedy, which should be granted only in limited circumstanée=ring
Pharm., Inc. v. Watson Pharm., In€65 F.3d 205, 210 (3d Cir. 2014) (internal quotation marks

omitted).

2 For the sake of claritysubstantiveexplanatios of themotionarguments are included in the
Court’s analyses of the issu@dya, rather than in thisection.
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In his memorandum of law in support of the motion for a temporary restraining order or
preliminary injunction, Laboy alleges thébllowing the allegedly false disciplinary charges
against him, he “pursued this incident” and that Defendants then “initiated a viciossrhana
and retaliation campaign against Plaintiff fog imvolvement in constitutionally protected
activity and in particular for filing this law suit and voicing [his] concesha/rongful conduct
and civil rights violations to the prison administration.” (ECF No. 5, Mem. of Law in Supp., at
ECF p. 5-6.) Specifically, he contends that in May 2018, as retaliation for commencing this
lawsuit, Laboy was transferred to a different housing unit and removed from tis wor
assignment as a Social Worker Assistaid.) (Accordingly, he seeks an order “enjoining the
said defendants, their successors in office, agents and employees and all stimsr goeting in
concernsic] and participation with them, to move [him] to housing unk and reinstate him to
his job assignment as Social Worker Assistant.” (ECF No. 5, Proposed Order, at ECF p. 10.)

A temporary restraining order or preliminary injunctgmans “intermediate relief of the
same character as that which may be granted finaBgé& De Beers Consol. Mines v. United
States 325 U.S. 212, 220 (1945). As indicated by the test for granting a preliminary injunction,
“there must be ‘a relationship between the injury claimed in the party’s motion acohithect
asserted in the complaint.Ball v. Famigliq 396 F. App’x 836, 837-38 (3d Cir. 2010) (quoting
Devose v. Herringtgd2 F.3d 470, 471 (8th Cir. 1994)). Furthermore, a preliminary injunction
may bind only the parties, their agents, or other persons acting in concert withSeefred. R.
Civ. P. 65(d)(2)(A)€C). The Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit has noted that a request for
injunctive relief is “legally deficient” when it is “targeted at potential condudthibars no
relation to his underlying claim.Martin v. Keite| 205 F. App’x 925, 928-29 (3d Cir. 2006ge

alsoBall, 396 F. App’x at 837-38.



Here,Laboy’s motion for demporary restraining order or preliminary injunction
concerns events entirely distinct from the allegations underlying the dotrgola seeks
completelydifferent relief. Indeed, the events that Labdggeds require preliminary relief did
not occur until after Laboy had filed his Complaint. Thus, there istbelynostangential
relationship between the injury claimed in the motion for preliminary relief ancbtiduct
alleged in the complaint. Fughmore, the Court notes that the motion for preliminary relief
does not specifically identify who took the allegedly retaliatory actions &wadsivould now be
enjoined, instead alleging simply that Laboy was “retaliated againstdmnpoificials.® (See
ECF No. 5 at ECF p. 5.) Accordingly, Laboy’s motion for a temporary restrainiiey or
preliminary injunction is denied.

B. Standard for Review on Motion to Dismiss Under Rule 12(b)(1) and (6)

FederaRule of Civil Procedur&2(b)(1)permitsthe Courtto dismiss groceeding for
lack of subjecimatter jurisdiction.SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1). When a motion to dismiss for
lack of subjecimatter jurisdiction does not attack any of the complaint’s factual allegations, it is

considered a facial challeegand the Court will “only consider the allegations of the complaint
and documents referenced therein and attached thereto, in the light most favorable to the
plaintiff.” Shibles v. Bank of Am., N,A30 F. App’x 103, 105 (3d Cir. 2018) (quotilmgre
Schering Plough Corp. Intron/Temodar Consumer Class Adbiod F.3d 235, 243 (3d Cir.
2012)) see alsd?app v. Fore-Kast Sales C&42 F.3d 805, 811 (3d Cir. 201®avis v. Wells

Fargo, 824 F.3d 333, 346 (3d Cir. 2016).

3 Furthermore, the Court observes that, even if Laboy had sought prelimingiryalated to his
claims, his Opinion’spartialdismissaland remand of the Complaint would folese a showing
that Laboy is likely to succeed on the merits af¢laims. SeeMaldonado,157 F.3dat 184.
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In resolving a motion to dismider failure to state a claim, under Rule 12(b)(&ourts
accept all factual allegations as true, construe the complaint in the light moabfavo the
plaintiff, and determine whether, under any reasonable reading of the comp&pigintiff
may be entitled to relief.”Fowler v. UPMC Shadysid®&78 F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir. 2009)
(quotingPhillips v. Qy. of Allegheny515 F.3d 224, 233 (3d Cir. 20083ke als&Zimmermarv.
Corbett 873 F.3d 414, 417-18 (3d Cir. 201@¢rt. deniedl38 S. Ct. 2623 (2018Revellv. Port
Auth. of N.Y. & N.J.598 F.3d 128, 134 (3d Cir. 2010). In other words, a complaint survives a
motion to dismiss if it contains sufficient factual matter, accepted as trué¢ate asclaim to
relief that is plaudile on its face.”Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)A
claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that alleasotlrt to
draw the reasonable inference that the defendant ig liabthe misconduct allegedAshcroft
v.Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (200%ee alsd-air Wind Sailing, Inc. v. Dempster64 F.3d 303,
308 n.3 (3d Cir. 2014). “Aleading that offers ‘labels amtnclusions’ or ‘a formulaic
recitation of the elements of a cause of action watldo.” Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quoting
Twombly 550 U.S. at 555). In addition to the allegations of the complaint, a court may consider
matters of public record, documents specifically referenced in or attéehiee complaint, and
documents integrdb the allegations raised in the complailtele v. Fed. Reserve Bank of N.Y.
359 F.3d 251, 255 n.5 (3d Cir. 2004).

Pro sepleadings, as always, will be liberally constru&eHaines v. Kerner404 U.S.
519, 520 (1972)lunk v. Noong689 F. App’x 137, 139 (3d Cir. 2017). Nevertheless, “pro se
litigants still must allege sufficient facts in their complaints to support a claitala v. Crown

Bay Marina, Inc, 704 F.3d 239, 245 (3d Cir. 2013).



C. 42U.S.C. §1983
As a general matter,@aintiff may have a cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for

certain violations of constitutional right3.hat section provides,

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance,

regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the

District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any

citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction

thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities

secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party

injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper

proceeding for redress, except that in any action brought against a

judicial officer for an act or omission taken in such officer’s

judicial capacity, injunctive relief shall not be granted unless a

declaratory decree was violated or declaratory relief was

unavailable.
42 U.S.C. § 1983. To state a claim under § 1983, a plaintiff must allege the violation of a right
secured by the Constitution or lawfstioe United States arttat the alleged depation was
committed or caused by a person acting under color of statSéanHarvey v. Plains Twp.
Police Dep’t 635 F.3d 606, 609 (3d Cir. 201%ge also West v. Atkind87 U.S. 42, 48 (1988).

D. Claims Against Defendantsin Their Official Capacities
As explained above, § 1983 permits actions against a “person.” 42 U.S.C. § 1983. “[A]

state is not a ‘person’ within the meaning of § 1983 . .Will v. Mich. Dep’t of State Police
491 U.S. 58, 65-66 (1989). Similarly, as a claim agairssate official in his or her official
capacity is essentially a claim against the state, § 1983 claims are not pernaitist stgte
officials in their official capacities, except to the extent that such claims segkegtive
injunctive relief. (d. at 71 & n.10.)

Defendants argue thdb the extent Laboy asserts damages claims against them in their

official capacities, sucmust be dismissed. (Br. in Supp., ECF No. 12-1, af) 7=8o0ymakes



no argument in opposition to this poinSeECF No. 26.) As Defendanis their official
capacities araot persons for the purposes of § 1983, the claims againsirittaeir official
capacitiesare dismisseavith prejudice except to thextent that. aboyseeks prospective
injunctive relief. Seewill, 491 U.S. at 71 & n.10.

E. Due-Process Claims

Theonly constitutional provision explicitly invoked by Laboy’s Complasihe Cruel
and Unusual Punishment Clause of the Eighth Amendm&eeECF No. 1-1 at p. 5.) His
factual allegations, howevamply a theorythat Defendants’ conduct deprived Laboy of
constitutionally mandated due process. Accordingly, the Giostrexamines the claims in that
light.

1. Alleged False Disciplinary Reports

Defendants argue thaaboy’'sallegationthat they filed false disciplinamgportsagainst
him, even if true, would not give rise to a § 1¢88m. (ECF No. 12t at9-11.) They
emphasize that Laboy not only received a hearingaaighportunity to rebut the disciplinary
report but that he was ultimately found not guiltyd.] Laboys opposition does not directly
address this argument.

In Smith v. Mensinge293 F.3d 641 (3d Cir. 2002), the Court of Appeals for the Third
Circuit affirmed the dismissal of a similar claim. The plaintiff, Smith, alleged thattadmtien
for “his conduct” and to “cover up a beating,” a corrections officer had issuedi@sonduct
reports which resulted in Smith being sentenced to seven months of “disciplinary tanat”
652. The Third Circuit’'s opinion examined the holding of the Supreme Cofandin v.
Conner 515 U.S. 472 (1995), in which it held that punitive confinement of a pristahken

alone,generallydoes not implicate a liberty interest for the purpose of godoeess claim.
8



Smith 293 F.3d at 652-53 (discussiigndi). The Third Circuit noted that prison disciplinary
charges may form the basis for a claimretéliation for a prisoner’s exercise of a constitutional
right, but found that Smith had not alleged that the charges against him wektelate
exercise of a constitutional righBmith 293 F.3d at 653-54 & n.10.

The SmithCourt further approved the district court’s reliance on the opinion of the
Second Circuit iffreeman v. Rideou808 F.2d 949 (2d Cir. 1986), where it held that no due-
process claim arises from false disciplinary charges or evidence so ldwegpsoner has an
opportunity to be heard and defend against such chaByesh 293 F.3d at 653-54 (discussing
Freemarn. The Third Circuitthus approved théismissal of Smith’s constitutional claim as he
“c[ould] not establish that the defendants’ conduct denied him substantive due process by
infringing upon a liberty interest” and that “he was afforded a hearing arefaheehad the
opportunity to confront and challenge the allegedly perjured testimony offesegbjport of the
misconduct reports.’'Smith 293 F.3d at 654. The Third Circuit has frequently reaffirmed the
holding inSmithin recent opinionsSee, e.gCooper v. Pa. Dep't of Corr.  F. App'x ___,
2018 WL 6132311, at *4 (3d Cir. Nov. 21, 2018jfirming summary judgment to defendants
where plaintiff alleged dugorocess violations in misconduct proceedings, because due process
was satisfied by plaintiff’s opportunity to challenge the repp@annaway v. Primecare Med.,
Inc., 652 F. App’x 91, 95 (3d Cir. 2016) (affirming summary judgment to defendante whe
plaintiff alleged false misconduct charges and improper confiscation of propecause
plaintiff “had access to the prison grievameecess, an adequate post-deprivation remedy to
protect his due process rightsgrt. deniedl38 S. Ct. 162 (2017Banks v. Rozun®39 F. App’X

778, 781-82 (3d Cir. 2016) (same).



Pursuant té&mithand its progeny, Laboy’s claim concerning the allegéalbke
disciplinaryreportsthatDefendants issued against hismdismissed.Even had Laboy been
subject to a period of punitive detention, this waubd implicate a liberty interestSmith 293
F.3d at 652-53Crucially, it is apparent that Laboy hadadequatepportunity to confront the
chargs, as the Complaint notes that a “Hearing Officer determined that Plaintiff haa®yot
guilty.” (SeeECF No. 11 11 9-11.)

Although Laboy asserts in his opposition brief that Defendants sought to esighatst
him, there is nothing in his Complaint that could be even liberally construed asgatiatie¢hat
thedisciplinary reportvas intended as retaliation for Laboy’s exercise of some constitutional
right. (SeeECF No. 1-1.) Indeed, the Complaint makes no mention of any events occurring
before the issuance of the disciplinary report, instead sialiglging that Defendants “conspired
to subject Plaintiff Laboy to harm and injury.Sé€eid.) Therefore, lhe allegations of retaliation
in Laboy’s brief will not be considered, dtis axiomatic that the complaint may not be
amended by the briefs in opposition to a motion to dismti®ennsylvania ex rel. Zimmerman
v. PepsCo, 836 F.2d 173, 181 (3d Cir. 1988) (internal quotation marks and brackets omitted).
Accordingly, Laboy’s claims related to the allegedly false disciplingrgnts are dismissed.

2. Alleged Deprivation of Property

Laboy’s claims for the alleged improper taking of his property must simfiatly

Defendants arguthat, as postleprivation remedies were availalibe the taking of his property

under the New Jersey Tort Claims Act, a gueeess claim on this basis must fflECF No.

4 The Court notes that Laboy’s brief in opposition also alludes to alleged violatidres Bdaal
Protection Clause. Evemliberal reading of the Complajitoweverrevealsno allegations that
even hint aan equabprotectionclaim.
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12-1 at 11-13.) Laboy, again, does not specificakypamd to this argument in hisiefing.
(SeeECF No. 26.)

Due processf law s, of courserequired when a state actor deprives a person of his or
her property.SeeBrown v. Muhlenberg Twp269 F.3d 205, 213 (3d Cir. 2001). But the
Supreme Court of the United States held{udson v. Palmer468 U.S. 517 (1984hereinafter,
Palmel), thatintentional deprivation adin inmate’gpropertyby way ofa state employee’s
random or unauthorized conduct does not give rise to a § 1983 procedupabdess claim so
long as the State provides an adequate g@stivation remedy. Id. at 530-33;see also
Zinermon v. Burch494 U.S. 113, 115, 127-30 (199Byown, 269 F.3d at 213—-14. Both
internal prison grievance systems and med@masifor bringing tort claims against state actors
are treated as adequate pasprivation remediesSeePalmer, 468 U.S. at 538/Vhitehead v.
Wetzel 720 F. App’x 657, 661-62 (3d Cir. 201Ragland v. Comm’r N.J. Dep’t of Coyiz17
F. App’x 175, 177-78 (3d Cir. 201 7)illman v. Lebanon Cty. Corr. Facilit21 F.3d 410, 422
(3d Cir. 2000). Indeed, the Third Circuit and courtthis Districthavespecifically found that
the remedies available to prisoners under the New Jersey Tort Clainhé Ac$tat. Ann. 88
59:1-1et seq.and the codified New Jersey Department of Corrections grievance sysfem, N
Admin. Code 88 10A:1-4.&t seq. constitute adequate post-deprivation remedies, and thus bar
due-process claims concerniting unauthorized seizure of a prisoner’s property by state actors.
SeeRagland 717 F. App’x at 177—7&mall v. Warren557 F. App’x 104, 105 (3d Cir. 2014)

Asquith v. Volunteers of Aml. F. Supp. 2d 405, 419 (D.N.J. 1994f,d sub nom. Asquith v.

> Though seemingly not at issue in this casePtienerCourt also held that prisoners have no
reasonable expectation of privacy in their cells that would permit them to invoke tbetiprot
of the Fourth Amendmeitgainst unreasonable searchBsePalmer, 468 U.S. at 525-30.
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Dep't of Corr, 186 F.3d 407 (1999James v. Price602 F. Supp. 843, 847-48 (D.N.J. 1985).
Accordingly, as adequate post-deprivation remedies—in the form of prison gegwaredures
and the Tort Claims Aetwere available tdaboy, his dugrocess clainbased on Defendants’
alleged taking of his property is dismissed.
3. Dismissal with Prejudice

While District Courts generally should permit curative amendments, a complairiianay
dismissed with prejudice if permitting further amendment would be inequitable or fa&ke
Grayson v. Mayview State Hosp93 F.3d 103, 110 (3d Cir. 2008ge also Connelly v. Steel
Valley Sch. Dist.706 F.3d 209, 217 (3d Cir. 2018hillips v. Cty. of Allegheny15 F.3d 224,
236 (3d Cir. 2008)Shane v. Fauve13 F.3d 113, 116 (3d Cir. 2000). Laboy’s queecess
claims are dismissdukereinnot because hasufficiently pleadedhecessary factual allegations,
but because relief under the Due Process Clause is legally unavailable to hiroounticidling
precedent. Any attempt by Laboyamend his due-proceskim concerning false disciplinary
reportswould be futile because such a claim does not invoke a recognized libertytiateres
because Laboy admits that he received an opportunity to rebut the cBanrijlg.293 F.3d at
652-54. Similarly, an amended dpmocess claim regarding tialegeddeprivation of property
wouldfail, because it is well established that adequate gegstivation remedies were available.
SeePalmer, 468 U.S. at 535. Accordingly, leave to amend would be futileLahdy’s due-
proces<laims are dismissed with prejudic8ee Graysor293 F.3d at 110.

F. Cruel-and-Unusual-Punishment Claims

As noted above, the Complaint explicitly invokes the Cruel and Unusual Punishment

Clause of the Eighth AmendmenSeeECFNo. 1-1 at p. 5.) Defendants argue that Laboy has

failed to allege facts demonstrating that he was subjéateohnditions that could be considered
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cruel and unusual. (ECF No. 12-1 at 13-14.) In opposition, Laboy contends that the Cruel and
Unusual Purshment claustembodies broad and idealistic concepts of dignity, civilized
standards, humanity, and decency,” and that the facts here clearly showianvidlaCF No. 26
at 10.)

A claim under the Cruel and Unusual Punishment Clause includes botleetiseband
an objective component: (1) that the defendant prison official acted with a culdblefshind
and (2) that the conduct in question was sufficiently harmfoetmmea constitutional
violation. SeeRicks v. ShoveB91 F.3d 468, 473 (3d Cir. 2018). Claims under the Cruel and
Unusual Punishment Clause may be divided into claims alleging excessaihokdaims
concerning the conditions of confineme®eeHudson v. McMillian 503 U.S. 1, 8-9 (1992)
(hereinafterHudson. The Eiglth Amendment requires prison officials to “provide humane

conditions of confinement,” but it “‘does not mandate comfortable prisof@aimerv.
Brennan 511 U.S. 825, 832 (1994) (quotiRipodes v. Chapman52 U.S. 337, 349 (1981)).
“[E]xtreme deprivatbns are required to make out a conditiongarifinement claim. Because
routine discomfort is a part of the penalty that criminal offenders pay for tienses against
society, only those deprivations denying the minimal civilized measuree@f titessities are
sufficiently grave to form the basis of an Eighth Amendment violatidudson 503 U.Sat9
(internal quotation marks and citations omitted)

While the filing of false disciplinary charges and the unauthorized deprivation of a
inmate’s persnal property ungquestionably represents conduct that should be denounced, neither
rises to the level of extraty requiredfor a claim under the Cruel and Unusual Punishment

Clause.The Complaint includes no allegation suggesting that Laboy was stripftbe of

minimal civilized measure of life’'s necessitiesSeeHudson 503 U.S. at 9. The Third Circuit
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has similarly rejected claims that the filing of an allegedly false disciplinportrerthe
deprivation of an inmate’s personal property amounted to cruel and unusual punisBegent.
Walker v. Mathis665 F. App’x 140, 143 (3d Cir. 2016) (rejecting Eighth Amendment claim
regarding allegedly false disciplinary repp&hakur v. Coelho421 F. App’x 132, 135 (3d Cir.
2011)(rejecting Eighth Amendmentaim regarding taking of propertygee alsBanks 639 F.
App’x at 781-83 (rejecting Eighth Amendment claim and also holding that the plaintiff “failed to
state any constitutional claim concerning . . . any property that was diegediscated or
damaged”)Bond v. Horne553 F. App’x 219, 224-25 (3d Cir. 2014) (findipkgintiff failed to
state Eighth Amendment claim regarding misconduct report “as he did not aliedarayer to
or interference with his health, safety, or basic needs”). Accordibghgy’sclaims under the
Cruel and Unusual Punishment Clause asen@tised.

For the same reasons discussed in reference to Laboy{wakess claims, it is apparent
that any attempt by Laboy tomend his claims as to the allegedly false disciplinary report or the
deprivation of property would be futile. Quite simply, such allegations do not rise thefievel
extreme deprivation needed to plead a eamelunusual-punishment clainBeeWalker, 665 F.
App’x at 143;Shakur 421 F. App’x at 135. Consequently, these claims are also dismissed with
prejudice.

G. Constitutional Conspiracy Claim

Laboy’s Complaint also characterizes Defendants has having conspired hgainiee
ECF No. 1-1 11 4, 8, 19.) To state a claim for conspiracy under § 1983, a plaintiff mst alleg
that “persons acting under color of state law conspired to deprive him of a fegenédicted
right.” Ridgewood Bd. of Educ. v. N.E. ex rel. ME.2 F.3d 238, 254 (3d Cir. 1999),

superseded in part by statute on other grounds as recognizedPbgx rel. Michael Pyv. W,
14



Chester Area Sch. Dis685 F.3d 727, 730 (3d Cir. 2009). A threshold question on a § 1983
conspiracy claim, however, is whether the plaintiff Getsiallybeen deprived of a righPerano
v. Twp. of Tilden423 F. App’x 234, 239 (3d Cir. 2011). For the reasons discussed in this
opinion, Laboy has failed to allege facts that could support a finding that his fedetalere
violated. Accordingly, his claim of conspiracy under § 1983 is dismissed.
H. ClaimsUnder StateLaw

The remainder of Laboy’s Complaint asserts clasmsnding under New Jersey tort law.
(SeeECF No. 1-1.) Defendants argue that the Court lacks jurisdictioeaiothese claims
because Laboy failed to allege in his Complaint that he filed a timely notice of cldenthe
New Jersey Tort Claims ActS€eECF No. 12-1 at 14-16.) The Court agrees that it lacks
jurisdictionto hearthese claims, but on a different basis.

While federal courts do not generally have jurisdiction to hear claims staterlaw,
they mayexercise supplemental jurisdiction ogeich claims if they are “so related to claims in
the action within [the court’s] original jurisdiction that they form part of the sase @a
controversy.” 28 U.S.C. § 1363ee alsde Asencio v. Tyson Foods, In842 F.3d 301, 308
(3d Cir. 2003). Under 28 U.S.C. § 1367, the Court may decline to exercise supplemental
jurisdictionafter it has “dismissed all claims over which it has original jurisdiction.” 28 U&.C.
1367(c)(3). Thus, “where the claim over which the district court has originstljation is
dismissed before trial, the district comtistdecline to decide the pendent state claims unless
considerations of judicial economy, convenience, and fairness to the parties provide an
affirmative justification for doing so.””Hedges v. Musx; 204 F.3d 109, 123 (3d Cir. 2000)
(quotingBorough of W. Mifflin v. Lancaste45 F.3d 780, 788 (3d Cir. 1995%ge als@arpolis

v. Tereshkp625 F. App’x 594, 599 (3d Cir. 2016).
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Here, the Court has dismissed all claims over whichdtonginal jurisdiction. The
Court is presented with no affirmative reason of economy, convenience, or féarpesty an
exercise of supplemental jurisdiction over the remaining-taateclaims, and the Court declines
to do so. Accordingly, Defendants’ motion as to these claims is denied without prejudice.

Furthermoreas this action was initially removed frahe New Jerseysuperior Court on
the basis of federalonstitutionaklaims thatredismissecerein the action is now remanded to
thestatecourt. 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c) (“If at any time before final judgment it appears that the
district court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, the case shall be remandeg. §lscCarnegie-
Mellon Univ. v. Cohill 484 U.S. 343, 357 (1988) (“[A] district court has discretion to remand to
state court a removed case involving pendent claims upon a proper determinationithiagret
jurisdiction over the case would be in appropriatédNrton v. Stop & Shop Store # §30iv. A.
No. 16-9385 (FLW), 2017 WL 3610492, at *14 (D.N.J. Aug. 22, 200Nk v. New Jersey
Civ. No. 14-1399 (RBK), 2014 WL 4931309, at *3 (D.N.J. Oct. 2, 2014).

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Laboy’s motion for a temporary restrainieg @ard
preliminary injunction, (ECF No. 5), is DHED. Defendants’ motiomo dismiss the Complaint
in this action (ECF No. 12)ijs GRANTED IN PART, insofar asall claims for violation of
Laboy’s federal constitutional rights under 42 U.S.C. 8 1983 are DISMISSED WITH
PREJUDICE and DENIED IN PART, insofarsathe Court declines to exercise supplemental
jurisdiction over the remaining stal@w claims The remaindeof the action is remanded to the

Superior Courbf New JerseylLaw Division, Mercer CountyAn appropriate order follows.
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DATED: Decembenl?, 2018 /s/ Freda L. Wolfson
FREDA L. WOLFSON
United States District Judge
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